IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No.: 75,747

DENNIS HAWTHORNE,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, the prosecuting authority in the trial court and appellee below, will be referred to in this brief as the state. Respondent, DENNIS HAWTHORNE, the defendant in the trial court and appellant below, will be referred to in this brief as respondent. References to the record on appeal will be noted by the symbol "R"; references to the appendix will be noted by the symbol "A". All references will be followed by the appropriate page numbers in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state appeals that portion of the First District's decision in <u>Hawthorne v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D711 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) which deals with the trial court's failure to utilize fair market value as the standard for determining the amount of restitution to be paid by respondent to the victim.

The trial court placed respondent on two years' community control, and ordered him as a condition of that sentence to make restitution to the victim for the loss of her automobile (A 1). At the evidentiary hearing on the issue of restitution, defense counsel did not present any evidence at the conclusion of the state's evidence (A 1). Because Fla. Stat. §775.089(7) (Supp. 1988) placed the burden of demonstrating financial resources and needs on respondent, the First District affirmed on this point (A 1) and the trial court's requirement that respondent reimburse the victim \$250.00 for transportation costs (A 1).

The state did not present direct testimony as to the fair market value of the victim's automobile, utilizing instead an alternative valuation method (A 1). Specifically, the victim testified at the restitution hearing as to the losses she sustained which were a direct result of respondent's theft of her car: (1) she purchased her car in 1985 for \$1,530.00 (R 68); (2) the book value of her car at that time was \$1,650.00 (R 68); (3) respondent stole her car one year after she had purchased it (R

- 2 -

69); (4) she had her car repaired just before the theft and the car was in good operating condition (R 69); (5) after her car was discovered after the theft, its value was nothing because it had been burned completely (R 71); and (6) the company from which she bought her car informed her that mileage would not affect the value of her car as long as it was in good mechanical condition (R 72).

Because the state presented no evidence concerning the percentage of depreciation as apparently required by <u>Abbott v.</u> <u>State</u>, 543 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the First District reversed and remanded the case for further proceedings "at which additional evidence may be received on the valuation issue." (A 1). However, the First District acknowledged and certified conflict with <u>Dickens v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D392 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), in which "the Second District took a more liberal view of the state's burden in determining the amount of loss for inclusion in restitution orders." (A 1).

The state timely filed its notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction, and this brief on the merits follows.

- 3 -

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Based on the explicit language of Fla. Stat. 8775.089 (1987), the proper standard for the determination of r stitution amounts is simply trial court discretion. Other than considering the items listed on section 775.089(6), trials courts are not mandated to use any particular standard, such as fair market value. As long as trial courts abide by the statute, the amount of restitution is properly left to their discretion. Because the trial court in the instant case fully abided by the terms of the statute, it did not abuse its discretion and the First District erred in reversing on this issue.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER FLA. STAT. 5775.089 (1987) REQUIRES TRIAL COURTS TO UTILIZE FAIR MARKET VALUE AS THE SOLE STANDARD BY WHICH TO DETERMINE AMOUNTS OF RESTITUTION.

Section 775.089, Florida Statutes (1987), provides:

In addition to any punishment, (1)(a)the court shall order the defendant to make restitution to the victim for damage or loss caused directly or indirectly by the defendant's offense, unless it finds reasons not to order such restitution. Restitution may be monetary or nonmonetary restitution. The court shall make the payment of restitution a condition to probation in accordance with s. 948.03.

* * * *

(6) The court, in determining whether to order restitution and the amount of such restitution, shall consider the amount of the loss sustained by any victim as a result of the offense, the financial resources of the defendant, the financial needs and earning ability of the defendant and his dependents, and such other factors which it deems appropriate.

Thus, trial courts are mandated to award restitution for damages caused by a defendant's offense and to consider the amount of loss sustained by the victim. In the present case, the trial court fully abided by the terms of the above statute in considering the amount of the victim's loss and inquiring of respondent as to his financial ability. In <u>Dickens v. State</u>, 15 F.L.W. D392, D393 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), the Second District noted that "[f]air market value at the time of the offense is clearly an appropriate way to determine the amount of the loss . . [but] it is not the only way." <u>See also Garrison v. State</u>, 553 \$0.2d 1377, 1379 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) (emphasis added) ("Fair market value of the property at the time of the theft is <u>a</u> well established measure for restitution.") That court continued:

> The legislature could easily have prescribed fair market value at the time of the offense as the point from which the <u>computation should begin; however, it did not</u> <u>do</u> so. In fact, section 948.03, Florida Statutes (1987), which provides for victim restitution as a condition of community control, expressly leaves the determination of the amount of restitution to the discretion of the trial court. It states:

> > (1) The court shall determine the terms and conditions of probation or community control and may include among them the following, that the probationer or offender in community control shall:

*

(e) Make reparation or restitution to the aggrieved party for the damage or loss caused by his offense *in an amount to be determined by the court.* . . .

*

(emphasis added). Section 775.089(1)(a) refers to this section and requires the trial court to make restitution a condition of probation in accordance with it.

The Florida Supreme Court has noted the legislature's recognition of the trial court's discretion in these statutes. <u>Spivey</u>

 $\underline{v. \text{State}}$, 531 So.2d 965 (Fla. 1988), involved a trial court order which required one of two perpetrators to bear the full amount of restitution. In affirming the order, the court said:

> Unlike civil damages, restitution sanction. is a criminal The purpose of restitution is not only to compensate the victim, but also to serve the rehabilitative, deterrent, and retributive goals of the criminal justice system. See Note, Victim Restitution in the Criminal Process: A Procedural Analysis, 97 Harv.L.Rev. 931 (1984). The trial court is best able to determine how imposing restitution may best serve these qoals.

531 So.2d at 967. Although this case involved apportioning restitution rather than computing the amount, <u>Spivey's</u> reasoning applies. <u>Limiting the trial court's</u> <u>discretion to a determination of the fair</u> <u>market value of the property involved at the</u> <u>time of the crime does not further its</u> <u>ability to serve the goals of the restitution</u> program.

It is true that in cases dealing with the determination of value as an element of a crime, fair market value at the time of the offense is the appropriate standard. However, there seems to be no reason to impose upon this type of action the same rigidities of proof that are required in criminal cases. See Norman v. State, 468 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (Nimmons, J., dissenting). The burden of proof, for the purposes of restitution, is a preponderance of the evidence. Section 775.089(7) states:

> Any dispute as to the proper amount or type of restitution shall be resolved by the court by the preponderance of the evidence. The burden of demonstrating the amount of the loss sustained by a victim as a result of the offense is on

the state attorney. The burden of demonstrating the financial resources of the defendant and the financial needs of the defendant and his dependents is on the defendant. The burden of demonstrating such other matters as the court deems appropriate is upon the party designated by the court as justice requires.

In this case, the court had before it the testimony of the owner of the shop from which the car was stolen and that of the owner of the car. While the court clearly rejected the fair market value standard in favor of charging the defendant the amount paid for the car plus improvements, the only evidence before it supported that figure and the defendant presented nothing to controvert it. The state thus made its showing of loss to of the victim a preponderance the by evidence. We note in passing that if the 1976 Chevrolet had any salvage value after its sojourn in the bay, the defendant could have presented evidence of it.

15 F.L.W. at D393 (emphasis added).

Similarly, in the present case, the evidence before the trial court supported the figures presented by the victim and respondent offered no evidence to controvert the figures. "The showing of loss to the victim by a state thus made its the evidence" as required by Fla. preponderance of Stat. However, the First District once again §775,089(7) (1987). chose to adhere to the view that "the value of property at the time of the offense is the way of determining the amount of loss inclusion in the restitution provision of a probation for order," citing Abbott v. State, 543 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989). 15 F.L.W. at D711. In <u>Abbott</u>, the First District stated that restitution "should be based on the fair market value of property at the time of the theft" and noted that fair market value <u>could be</u> determined through the presentation of evidence on (1) the original market cost, (2) the manner in which the property was used, (3) the property's general condition, and (4) the percentage of depreciation. 543 So.2d at 412. <u>See also</u> <u>Garrison</u>, 553 So.2d at 1379 (emphasis added) ("A trial court <u>is</u> <u>entitled to consider</u> evidence of an item's market cost, its use, its general condition, and its percentage of depreciation in determining fair market value for restitution.") Because the state's evidence in the present case satisfied only the first three <u>Abbott</u> criteria, the First District reversed the trial court's determination of restitution concerning the victim's car. 15 F.L.W. at D711.

The First District apparently overlooked its own language in <u>Abbott</u> that restitution "should be" based on fair market value, and that fair market value "may be" determined by consideration of the listed criteria. Use of the phrases "should be" and "may be" is significant in that it connotes discretion, as opposed to the mandatory nature of the phrases "must be" and "shall be." In the present case, the trial court discretionarily considered only three of the four criteria, and in *so* doing, did not abuse his discretion or contradict the plain terms of Abbott. There, the victim testified solely as to

- 9 -

the purchase price of her stolen jewelry, and the First District simply concluded that, based on case law, the "'cost of the stolen property is insufficient itself to establish value.'" 543 So.2d at 412 (citationomitted).

Additionally, the state contends that <u>Abbott</u> is incorrect in its holding that restitution "should be" based on the fair market value of the property at the time of the theft. As shown above in the lengthy passage from <u>Dickens</u>, the statute simply does not require fair market value as the sole standard for determining restitution amounts; the statute in fact lists no standard other than trial court discretion. The holding that fair market value is the standard for restitution determinations flies in the face of very obvious legislative intent: Determinations of restitution are to be left to the discretion of trial courts.

Thus, the state contends that, based on the explicit language of Fla. Stat. 8775.089 (1987), <u>Dickens</u> enunciates the proper standard for the determination of restitution amounts, i.e., trial court discretion. Other than considering the items listed on section 775.089(6), trials courts are not mandated to use any particular standard, such as fair market value. As long as trial courts abide by the statute, the amount of restitution is properly left to their discretion. Because the trial court in the instant case fully abided by the terms of the statute, it did not abuse its discretion and the First District erred in reversing on this issue.

- 10 -

CONCLUSION

Based on the above cited legal authorities and arguments, the state respectfully requests this Honorable Court to adopt the rationale of <u>Dickens</u>, affirm the trial court's method and determination of restitution, and reverse that portion of the decision of the First District Court of Appeal which requires trial courts to utilize fair market value as the sole standard for determining restitution.