IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

1001010101

v. : CASE NO. 75,747

DENNIS HAWTHORNE,

Rsspondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the lower tribunal. Attached hereto as an appendix is the opinion of the lower tribunal. Petitioner's brief will be referred to as "PB", followed by the appropriate page number. The record on appeal will be referred to as "R".

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts petitioner's recitation at PB 2-3 with the following clarifications. The auto at issue was a 1979 Ford Fairmont (R 67). The victim purchased it on June 14, 1985, for \$1530 (R 68). It was stolen 14 months later in August of 1986 (R 69). The victim did not know how many miles were on the car (R 72).

The trial court set restitution in the amount of \$1500 for the car, plus \$250 for the victim's expenses for being without a car (R 70), for a total of \$1750, plus 12% interest (R 48; 74).

The lower tribunal reversed the restitution order because it failed to take into account the amount of depreciation the car suffered over that 14 month period. Appendix.

III SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Respondent will argue in this brief that the lower tribunal was entirely correct in reversing the instant restitution order. The burden to prove the amount of restitution is on the state. This Court, and the appellate courts of this state, have always held that fair market value is the correct method of determining the amount of restitution for property stolen.

Fair market value must include consideration of the fact that property, especially domestic automobiles, lose part of their value over time, due to depreciation.

IV ARGUMENT

THE LOWER TRIBUNAL WAS CORRECT IN HOLDING THAT FAIR MARKET VALUE OF PROPERTY STOLEN MUST INCLUDE AN AMOUNT FOR DEPRECIATION.
(Issue restated by respondent).

The lower held that the state failed to establish market value of the stolen car because there was no evidence presented to show that the car had the same value when it was stolen 14 months after it was purchased by the victim. Petitioner's brief attempts to argue that the trial courts should be permitted to set any value on restitution, in their total discretion, and that value need not be related in any way to market value. This is not the law, has never been the law, and should not become the law of this state.

Sections 948.03(1)(e) and 948.032, Florida Statutes, permit the sentencing judge to order restitution as a condition of probation, but do not explain how restitution is to be calculated. The only other expression of legislative intent is found in Section 775.089(6), Florida Statutes, which became effective in 1984, and which provides:

The court, in determining whether to order restitution and the amount of such restitution, shall consider the amount of the loss sustained by any victim as a result of the offense, the financial resources of the defendant, the present and potential future financial needs and earning ability of the defendant and his dependents, and such other factors which it deems appropriate.

Prior to the enactment of this statute, this Court, as well as the lower appellate courts, had held that fair market value is the appropriate method of measuring the value of

property stolen in a theft. In the seminal case of <u>Negron v.</u> State, 306 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1975), this Court held:

The original market cost of the property, the manner in which it has been used, its general condition and quality, the percentage of depreciation since its purchase or construction are elements of proof to be submitted to the jury to aid it in ascertaining value in such cases. 13 Fla. Jur, Evidence §172. Id. at 108, emphasis added.

The law in Florida is well settled that testimony as to the <u>cost</u> of stolen property is insufficient in and of itself to establish the value of [sic] the time of the theft. Hicks v. State (1937), 127 Fla. 669, 173 So. 815. Id., emphasis in original.

Likewise, this Court stated in <u>Fresneda v. State</u>, 347 So.2d 1021, 1022 (Fla. 1977):

[W]e glean no legislative intent to authorize trial courts to require probationers to pay over random sums of money. ••• We hold that a condition of probation requiring a probationer to pay money to, and for the benefit of, the victim of his crime cannot require payment in excess of the amount of damage the criminal conduct caused the victim. Emphasis added.

In determining the value of a stolen item, it is clear that value must be based on the market value at the time of the offense. Taylor v. State, 425 So.2d 1191 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) and Malloy v. State, 397 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981). The new cost of stolen property is insufficient to establish its market value at the time of the theft, especially where the chattel was in used condition. Beasley v. State, 305 So.2d 285 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974); Spencer v. State, 217 So.2d 331 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1969); <u>Gamble v. State</u>, 210 So.2d 238 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1968); and Todd v. State, 187 So.2d 908 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1966).

It is common knowledge that a new automobile depreciates the minute a happy buyer drives it off of the dealer's lot, and that used autos also lose some of their value from year to year. Generally-accepted accounting principles require that the value of personal property be reduced each year due to depreciation:

Depreciation in accounting is that portion of the cost of a fixed asset periodically charged to expense. Depreciation is caused by wear and tear, physical deterioration, inadequacy, obsolescence, the passage of time, and the action of the elements. Depreciation accounting aims to distribute in a systematic manner the cost (or other basic value) less salvage, if any, of the fixed asset over the estimated useful life of the asset.

Holmes, Elementary Accounting (3rd ed. 1962) at 601-602.

In <u>Norman v. State</u>, 468 So.2d 1063, 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985), the lower tribunal properly stated that restitution:

may be adduced through direct testimony as the fair market value ••• at the time of the theft, or through evidence on 1) the original market cost, 2) the manner in which they were used, 3) their general

¹To the extent that petitioner would place the burden on the defense to prove depreciation ("the evidence before the trial court supported the figures presented by the victim and respondent offered no evidence to controvert the figures", PB at 8) such would be contrary to Section 775.089(7), Florida Statutes:

The burden of demonstrating the amount of the loss sustained by a victim as a result of the offense is on the state attorney.

condition and quality and 4) the percentage of depreciation.

Accord: Abbott v. State, 543 So.2d 411 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989):

D.L. v. State, 546 So.2d 454 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) (state did not establish grand theft where only evidence was market value one year prior to theft): and J.O. v. State, 552 So.2d 1167 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989) (although victim said video equipment stolen was "practically brand new", there was insufficient evidence of value).

The case upon which the state relies, <u>Dickens v. State</u>, 556 So.2d 782 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1990), is an aberration from the established case law cited above, and must be disapproved. That court reasoned that because the legislature has not codified fair market value as the measure of restitution in the above-cited statutes, it left to the unbridled discretion of the court the manner in which to set restitution. <u>Dickens</u> made no mention of <u>Negron</u>, <u>Fresneda</u>, or any of the other cases cited above, which unanimously hold that fair market value has been judicially-grafted onto the restitution statute.

The converse logic is more compelling — that the legislature saw no need to mention fair market value when it rewrote Section 775.089(6), Florida Statutes, in 1984, because it was aware that the courts had uniformly held it to be the proper measure of restitution. <u>Dickens</u> must be overruled because it is contrary to the line of cases emanating from <u>Negron</u>. It must also be overruled because it leaves the matter entirely to the discretion of the trial court, which would be free to fix

an amount of restitution, which may be in excess of the actual damage caused, and which would never be reversed on appeal.

V CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument, reasoning, and citation of authority, respondent requests that this Court approve the decision of the lower tribunal.

Respectfully Submitted,

BARBARA M. LINTHICUM PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
Fla. Bar No. 197890
Deputy Public Defender
Leon County Courthouse
Fourth Floor North
301 South Monroe Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32301

Attorney for Respondent

(904) 488-2458